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INTRODUCTION

We are pleased to present this book which – as we believe – will help deepen your knowledge about the history of Polish Jews during World War II. The book provides crucial information on the Warsaw Ghetto and the Oneg Shabbat group that operated within it and whose founder was historian Dr. Emanuel Ringelblum. His team worked in secret, gathering comprehensive records of the Jewish community’s life and death under the German occupation. While briefly introducing their work, we also attempt to address several themes related to the fate of Polish Jews during World War II. Therefore, you will find not only the definitions of some key terms and notions, biographical notes, and source texts from the Ringelblum Archive, but also rich illustrative material: photographs and maps. 

Since 1947, the Emanuel Ringelblum Jewish Historical Institute has been caring for the unique collection of documents gathered by the Oneg Shabbat which today is called either The Ringelblum Archive or The Underground Archive of the Warsaw Ghetto. Over decades, the JHI has conducted numerous research projects and has been involved in publishing both academic studies (including a full edition of the Archive) and popular books. It is also actively involved in educational and cultural activities as well as popularizing the knowledge of the Holocaust through organizing exhibitions. 

We hope that this book will provide you with more information about the history of the Oneg Shabbat clandestine group and allow you to discover how great the importance of the Ringelblum Archive is for the contemporary research on Holocaust. It might also serve as a means to broaden your knowledge of the history presented at the JHI’s headquarters within the permanent exhibition "What We've Been Unable to Shout Out to the World".
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Other chapters are available in the full version of the e-book.




In 1918–1939, Warsaw, the capital of Poland, was the largest center of the Jewish population in Europe and the second – after New York – in the world. Palestine, which had been governed by the British since 1920, was inhabited by a relatively inconsiderable Jewish community; in the 1930s, there were 180,000 Jewish people living there. 

In Poland, just before the outbreak of World War II, the Jewish minority – as numerous as 3 million people – constituted almost 10% of the country’s population. Polish Jews were – in terms of political, cultural, and religious potential – the second most important part of the world diaspora after American Jews. They lived all over Poland; however, Warsaw, where every third resident was Jewish, stood out as the largest Yiddish cultural center that resonated with the entire Jewish world. 


[image: 17686.jpg]


MINORITIES IN THE SECOND POLISH REPUBLIC [data from 1931]

Jewish migration to Palestine, which at that time was a part of the Ottoman Empire, had already taken place, although to a limited extent, in the 19th century. In the 1880s, about 40,000 Jews inhabited these terrains and constituted the minority in comparison with the almost 0.5 million Arabic people. At the turn of the century, the population of the Jewish minority increased during the first and the second Aliyah (‘ascent’, a return to the ‘homeland of one’s fathers’), whose participants – motivated by Zionist ideology – would settle in Palestine with the hope for re-establishing the Jewish state there. The situation of the settlers became complicated after World War I, when Palestine was assigned as a mandate to Britain. In 1922, the British administration published the so-called ‘Churchill White Paper’ that limited the annual number of Jewish settlers. Nevertheless, at the beginning of the 1930s, the Jewish population there numbered over 170,000 people and constituted 17% of the total number of citizens of Mandatory Palestine.

THE NORTHERN DISTRICT AND ITS CHARACTER

The core of the Jewish population in Warsaw were merchants, workers, and craftspeople. Although they mainly inhabited the northern areas of the city, called the Northern, Nalewki or Muranów District, they were scattered all over Warsaw. Wealthy and assimilated Jews such as bankers, financiers, doctors, lawyers, and advocates lived in the southern part of the city center, whilst those worse off populated the districts of Powiśle and Praga. 

With the beginning of the 16th century, on the grounds of various decrees, Jews had been banned from inhabiting the buildings along the representative streets such as Czerskie Przedmieście (presently: Krakowskie Przedmieście) or today’s Old Town. The capital had never had an officially designated Jewish quarter, and the Northern District, called Jewish before the war, was established in the 19th century by a decree issued in 1809 by the government of the Duchy of Warsaw.

The Northern District was specific for its streets full of small shops and apartments often turned into commercial premises or storages. Stallholders, carriers, forwarders, contractors, suppliers, and – of course – customers were present everywhere. Nalewki Street – which constituted kind of a gate to the Northern District and the very heart of it – was frequented and shopped at not only by its inhabitants but also by Christians from across Warsaw. There, they would buy oriental spices as well as leather goods, textiles, and other products at a competitive price.

The Jewish community was internally diverse, and that diversity emerged both on the economic and political grounds and in the attitudes of particular circles to the issues of religion and language. Living on the same street, next to each other, there were Zionists, socialists, communists, religious and assimilated Jews, and finally those who would not identify with any ideology. 
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The courtyard of 15 Nalewki Street, 1934, photo by Willem van de Poll, collection of the National Archives of the Netherlands in The Hague

The diversity of Jewish dwellers in Warsaw was also reflected by their appearance.

The Jews from Solec look completely different than the Jews from Praga. Those from Grzybowo do not resemble those from Rybny Square. Pańska Street is not the same as Muranów. And Franciszkańska Street, which reaches Nalewki – is as poles apart as only day and night might be.

Marian Fuks, Jews in Warsaw…, pp. 209–210.

Before World War II, Yiddish was the everyday language called the mother tongue (Yid.: mame loshn) by many Polish Jews. At the same time, Hebrew, associated with the sacral sphere, was called the holy language (Yid.: loshn koydesh). Yiddish was used at home, often to discuss daily, casual, and worldly matters; that is why, it was commonly connected with women’s space. Hebrew was the written language, the language of the holy books and municipal documents, and because religious education was entirely men’s domain, they were also the ones who mostly used it. Multilingualism of the Ashkenazi Jews was commonplace; the community also spoke, although to various extent, the languages necessary to handle formalities at different offices or to do business, as well as those taught at school due to the obligatory education introduced in the Second Polish Republic by a decree in 1919. 

Yiddish — often called the Jewish language, one of the tongues of the Jewish diaspora; it is mostly based on German with some influences of Hebrew and Slavic languages; Yiddish is written in the Hebrew alphabet, from right to left, but contrary to Hebrew, it also uses consonants in its written form.

Hebrew — one of the Jewish languages, spoken since ancient times; served the Jewish community as a religious, holy language; it was also used by the communities in their official correspondence.

Ashkenazi Jews — Hebrew: Ashkenazim from the word Ashkenaz which was used in the Middle Ages to describe Germany. The term applies to Jews from Central and Eastern Europe who spoke the common language, Yiddish.

Assimilated Jews, on the other hand, did not speak Yiddish; they communicated only in Polish and it remained their everyday language. 

WARSAW AS THE CULTURAL CAPITAL OF THE JEWISH DIASPORA

Polish Jews’ extensive social and cultural life was specific for its internal dynamics. It was the territory of Poland where such spiritual and scientific centers as Vilnius, Lviv, Krakow, and of course Warsaw – hailed the world capital of the Jewish diaspora’s culture – were located.   

There were 440 synagogues and houses of prayers in the city. Numerous religious associations, unions, sports clubs, and youth organizations as well as over 250 Jewish social institutions operated on a daily basis. In this very area, political clubs and parties played a major role; they were hubs of both self-help and cultural and educational activities. They established unions and affiliated organizations aimed at women, youth, students, scouts, sports lovers, they opened workers’ clubs, publishing houses, and schools. Such activity focused on the idea of mutual support and providing help for those who were in need was deeply rooted in the Jewish tradition. During centuries of living in diaspora, Jews repeatedly had had to struggle with various forms of exclusion, discrimination, and persecution. For this reason, self-help had always been crucial and constituted one of the ways to survive. 


JEWISH POLITICAL PARTIES 

The first Jewish political parties began to emerge in the late 19th century and their ideas involved the approach towards assimilation, Zionism, religion, and the language. Political organizations were very diverse – from the right-wing and religious to the left-wing and secular. 

The orthodox and religious movement was represented by Agudas Yisroel (also transliterated as Agudath Israel, the Union of Israel) whose members identified the Jewish nationality with the ‘Mosaic’ faith, and strongly rejected the idea of migration to Palestine. On the other hand, members of the Mizrachi religious party supported the Zionist ideology. Together with the general Zionists and Revisionists, they postulated a Hebrew-based cultural model, treating the Hebrew language as a symbol of breaking with the diaspora. 

Zionism was becoming more and more popular also among the youth who built up the pioneer movements by joining such organizations as Hashomer Hatzair (Eng. the Young Guard). This kind of organization aimed at preparing young people to work in Palestine, especially doing farmers’ jobs. 

On the left side of the political scene, there were socialist and workers’ parties. The attempt to combine Zionism and socialism was taken, for instance, by such parties as Poale Zion Left and Poale Zion Right. The General Jewish Labor Bund, on the other hand, strongly opposed and fought against all the Zionist concepts and supported the idea of cultural autonomy (in terms of language and culture) for Jews in Poland. What’s important, Bund, Folkspartei followers and Poale Zion Left represented the so-called Yiddish movement, which meant that it was Yiddish – the language of the Jewish masses – which was claimed as the national language of all Jews.

Some Jewish political activists enlisted also to Polish parties, i.e. to the Polish Socialist Party. Most of the Jewish politicians who became the Parliament and Senat Members in interwar Poland belonged to the Zionist fraction.



Revisionism – the right-wing fraction of the Zionist movement whose founder and long-time leader was Vladimir (Ze’ev) Jabotinsky. Revisionists advocated the formation of a Jewish army which would oust Mandatory Palestine from both Jordan banks and enable mass migration of Jewish people into those territories. 

Zionism – the ideology of the Jewish national revival achieved through reestablishing their own national state in Palestine, as well as the revival of Hebrew as a national language of the state. One of the founders of the Zionist movement was Theodor Herzl. 

A spectacular bloom of secular Yiddish culture could also be observed in Warsaw, with its most outstanding representatives from the literary circles: Icchok Lejbusz Perec (called the father of modern Yiddish literature), prose writer and playwright Szalom Asz, and the Nobel Prize winner Isaac Bashevis Singer. Artists of Jewish origin, such as Julian Tuwim and Antoni Słonimski, Władysław Szpilman and Jerzy Petersburski, Władysław Szlengel and Henryk Gold, great contributors to the Polish culture of the interwar period, were also active there. 

Before World War II, Warsaw was one of the most important centers for Jewish press. Dozens of Jewish periodicals were published in Yiddish, Polish, and Hebrew; they included daily newspapers, weekly magazines as well as literary, scientific and economic journals. Their coverage and impact expanded much further than the country borders. 

The Institute for Jewish Research (YIVO), founded in Vilnius in 1925, played a vital role in the development of Judaic Studies and the intellectual life of the Jewish diaspora.  Conducting scientific research on Jewish history and culture, it soon became the largest Yiddish secular institution. However, Warsaw could also be proud of its influential Jewish scientific institute, with its headquarters located in Tłomackie Square. 
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The Institute for Jewish Research (Yiddish: Yidisher Visnshaftlekher Institut/YIVO) — founded in 1925, with headquarters in Vilnius, the Institute was first and foremost an academic center for linguistic research, but in its individual departments, studies related to the Jewish economy, folklore, ethnography, and history were also conducted. It developed a new approach to Jewish history and culture. Its founders and theoreticians perceived the Jewish language as the first and the basic factor, next to religion, of the nation-building processes among the Ashkenazi Jews. The Institute very soon became the most important secular Yiddish-based institution. Emanuel Ringelblum was a member of the YIVO’s department of history, and he worked for the Warsaw branch of the institution. Other collaborators of the Oneg Shabbat were also, to various extent, connected with the YIVO. 

GENIUS LOCI 

The building which today constitutes the headquarters of the Emanuel Ringelblum Jewish Historical Institute is located at 3/5 Tłomackie Street. It remains the only pre-war address of the already non-existent Tłomackie Square, whose beginnings date back to mid-17th century. Before the war, the location served as a symbolic borderland between the Jewish Warsaw and its Christian part. 

The Main Judaic Library, called The Temple of Knowledge, was built in 1936 adjacent to The Temple of Faith and thus the Great Synagogue on Tłomackie Street. The inscription located above the main entrance and written both in Polish and Hebrew informed visitors about the character of the place. When the library was opened, its collection involved several thousand volumes, and among them, a great number of old prints from the 16th and the 17th centuries, as well as dozens of valuable manuscripts. The Library which hosted several cultural events, included exhibition halls and lecture rooms given for the use of the Institute for Judaic Studies, which also had its headquarters here. The Institute opened in 1928 and was the only Jewish academic institution in Poland and the first Jewish research and educational center in Europe which, apart from theological studies, also offered a program involving secular courses. The secular Judaic subjects proposed by the Institute included Jewish social work, Jewish art, Jewish ethnography and folklore, and Eretz Yisrael Studies.

The subjects were taught by prominent scholars such as Rabbi and Professor Mojżesz Schorr, Professor Majer Bałaban or Ignacy Icchak Schiper. 

During the decade of its activity, the Institute accepted three hundred students, the majority of whom constituted women. It became even more important in the second half of the 1930s, when the youth fell victim to a law limiting the access of Jews to universities.

The Institute aimed at training future employees of the self-help social organizations and history teachers for their work, but also at educating rabbis who would speak literary Polish.
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The Great Synagogue on Tłomackie Street, next to it: The Main Judaic Library, 1936, photo by Konstanty Wojutyński, JHI Archives.

Constructed in 1878, the Great Synagogue on Tłomackie Street was one of the most beautiful sacral buildings of the pre-war capital. As a progressive synagogue, in which sermons were given in Polish and accompanied by the performances of a choir, it sparked a lot of controversies among Warsaw Jews, especially those from traditional and orthodox circles. The Great Synagogue was erected as a result of the initiative of well-off assimilated Jews but it was also visited by Poles, mainly during performances given by the world-famous cantors or on national holidays. 

Over one hundred religion teachers and scholars in Judaic subjects graduated from the Institute to find employment in various parts of Poland. 

The main idea behind establishing the Institute was to educate modern academic personnel and a team of researchers (apart from didactics, the Institute focused on research and studies) as well as pedagogues and teachers. 

The pre-war Tłomackie was the center of the intellectual and cultural life of Jewish Warsaw. World War II put a halt to the activity of both the Institute of Judaic Studies and the Main Judaic Library. 
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Students of the Institute for Judaic Studies in front of the entrance to the building, 1938, JHI Archives.
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